

Management's Discussion and Analysis

For the three months ended March 31, 2025

Table of Contents

Introduction	2
Forward-Looking Statements	3
Overview	4
Recent Developments	4
Factors Affecting Our Results of Operations	5
Summary of Bitcoin Mining Results and Operations	
Results of Operations	8
Comparative Results for the three months ended March 31, 2025, and 2024	9
Liquidity and Capital Resources	11
Cash Flows	11
Outstanding Share Data	12
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements	12
Related Party Transactions and Balances	
Non-IFRS Measures and Ratios	12
Business Risks and Uncertainties	13
Accounting Policies, Critical Accounting Estimates, and Internal Controls	21
Significant Judgments	
Significant Estimates	
Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management	23
Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting	25

Management's Discussion and Analysis
For the three months ended March 31, 2025
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Introduction

The following management's discussion and analysis ("MD&A") of the financial condition and results of the operations of Cathedra Bitcoin Inc. constitutes management's review of the factors that affected the Company's financial and operating performance for the three months ended March 31, 2025. The MD&A is intended to help the reader understand Cathedra Bitcoin Inc. ("Cathedra", "we", "our" or the "Company"), our operations, financial performance, current and future business environment and the opportunities and risks facing the Company. The risks are explicitly set out in the "Business Risks and Uncertainties" section of this MD&A. In addition, certain statements in this MD&A incorporate forward-looking information and readers are advised to review the cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements in the "Forward-Looking Statements" of this MD&A.

This MD&A was written to comply with the requirements of National Instrument 51-102 – Continuous Disclosure Obligations. This discussion should be read in conjunction with the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements ("Financial Statements") for the Company for the three months ended March 31, 2025, and the related notes thereto. Results are reported in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (which consist only of normal recurring adjustments) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. The results presented for the reporting period are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any future period. The financial statements and the financial information contained in this MD&A were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") and interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee ("IFRIC"). Further information about the Company and its operations can be obtained from SEDAR+ on www.sedarplus.ca.

This MD&A contains information up to and including May 29, 2025.

Management's Discussion and Analysis
For the three months ended March 31, 2025
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Forward-Looking Statements

This MD&A contains certain "forward-looking information" within the meaning of Canadian securities legislation. Forward-looking statements are based on the beliefs, estimates and opinions of the Company's management on the date the statements are made, and they involve a number of assumptions, risks and uncertainties. Consequently, there can be no assurances that such statements will prove to be accurate and actual results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements. The forward-looking information includes information about our growth or expansion plans regarding mining digital currencies and businesses that may not come to fruition. Forward-looking information involving the costs and future revenues from mining bitcoin are dependent on market factors, including but not limited to the price of bitcoin, network hash rate, and difficulty, that are beyond our control and may differ materially from our assumptions.

Forward-looking information includes information about our plans for future acquisitions; the expected electrical consumption and tariffs at our various data centers; additional opportunities to be identified in the future to contribute to growth of revenue and mining equipment; our business goals and objectives, and other forward-looking information including but not limited to information concerning the intentions, plans and future actions of the Company. The forward-looking information in this MD&A reflects the current expectations, assumptions, and/or beliefs of the Company based on information currently available to us that are all subject to change. In connection with the forward-looking information contained in this MD&A, we have made assumptions about our ability to mine bitcoin; and that there will be no regulation or law that will prevent or significantly hinder us from operating our business. We have also assumed that no significant events occur outside of our normal course of business. Although we believe that the assumptions inherent in the forward-looking information are reasonable, forward-looking information is not a guarantee of future performance, and accordingly, undue reliance should not be put on such information due to the inherent uncertainty therein.

Management's Discussion and Analysis
For the three months ended March 31, 2025
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Overview

Cathedra Bitcoin Inc. (TSX-V: CBIT; OCTQB: CBTTF) develops and operates digital infrastructure assets across North America with the goal of maximizing its per-share bitcoin holdings. The Company hosts bitcoin mining clients across its portfolio of three data centers (30 megawatts total) in Tennessee and Kentucky. Cathedra also operates a fleet of proprietary bitcoin mining machines at its own and third-party data centers, producing approximately 400 PH/s of hash rate. Cathedra is headquartered in Vancouver and its shares trade on the TSX Venture Exchange under the symbol CBIT and on the OTCQB Venture Market under the symbol CBTTF.

Recent Developments

Refinancing of Convertible Debentures

On March 19, 2025, we extinguished the \$5,733,728 of remaining principal of our outstanding 3.5% senior secured convertible debentures due November 11, 2025, originally issued on November 11, 2021 (the "Debentures"), by prepaying \$4,586,982 plus accrued interest. The prepayment implies a 20% discount to par on the outstanding principal of the Debentures. In addition, the holder of the Debentures agreed to surrender 10,897,000 share purchase warrants of the Company for cancellation. Concurrently, we entered into a new loan of US\$2,494,693 to partially repay the outstanding principal amount of the Debentures. The new loan is secured by approximately 50 of our bitcoin; carries interest at a rate of 13% per annum, payable monthly; and is interest-only until maturity on March 18, 2026.

Sale of Tirpitz Technologies Hold Co ("T Tech")

We formed T Tech in November 2023, initially holding a 100% interest. On January 10, 2024, it reorganized and gave up majority interest in exchange for contribution promises.

Subsequently we together with other members of T Tech decided to sell T Tech. The Board of Managers, consisting of Cathedra Bitcoin Inc.'s majority shareholders, approved the sale and assets before December 31, 2024. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities directly associated with those assets were classified as held for sale as of December 31, 2024.

We received partial consideration from the sale of T Tech during the three months ended March 31, 2025. The outstanding consideration receivable is contingent on fulfilling a final condition of the sale upon which the resulting gain or loss form de-recognition of T Tech will be recognized. T Tech was de-consolidated effective March 1, 2025 subsequent to receipt of a portion of the consideration and takeover by the buyer, accordingly assets classified as held for sale, liabilities directly associated with those assets and non-controlling interest were de-recognized.

Formation of New Subsidiaries

In January 2025, we formed the following legal entities in preparation for prospective development of new hosting sites:

- Buckeye HPC Holdings LLC and its wholly owned subsidiary, Buckeye HPC LLC. Buckeye HPC Holdings LLC is a wholly owned subsidiary of Cathedra Bitcoin Inc.
- Buckeye Technologies HoldCo LLC and its wholly owned subsidiary, Buckeye Technologies OpCo LLC. Buckeye Technologies HoldCo LLC is a wholly owned subsidiary of Kungsleden, Inc.

Cancellation of Subordinate Voting Share Purchase Warrants

On March 19, 2025, we repurchased and cancelled 10,987,000 subordinate voting share purchase warrants in connection with a broader debt refinancing, described above. The warrants had an exercise price of \$0.12.

On May 7, 2025, we repurchased and cancelled an additional 14,205,000 subordinate voting share purchase warrants for US\$75,002 (approximately \$100,000) in cash. The warrants had an exercise price of \$0.12.

Management's Discussion and Analysis
For the three months ended March 31, 2025
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Factors Affecting Our Results of Operations

Our performance and future success depend on a number of factors that present significant opportunities for us. These factors also pose risks and challenges, including those discussed in the "Business Risks and Uncertainties" section of this MD&A.

Market Value of Bitcoin

Our revenue from bitcoin mining is impacted by changes in the market value of bitcoin, which has historically experienced substantial volatility. We record revenue upon receipt of bitcoin from our mining activities at the fair market value of bitcoin received. The fair market value is determined using the spot price of the coin on the date of receipt, based on the daily average from https://coinmetrics.io/ ("Coin Metrics"). A decrease in the market value of bitcoin may have a material and adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

Bitcoin Network Difficulty

The difficulty of bitcoin mining, or the amount of computational resources required to append a new block on the Bitcoin blockchain and thereby earn the associated mining rewards, directly affects our results of operations. Bitcoin mining difficulty is a measure of how much computing power is required to record a new block, and it is affected by the total amount of computing power dedicated to confirming transactions on the Bitcoin network. The Bitcoin protocol is designed such that one block is generated, on average, every ten minutes, no matter how much computing power is dedicated to confirming transactions on the network. Thus, as more computing power joins the network, the amount of computing power required to generate each block, and hence the mining difficulty, also increases.

Further, the block subsidy component of the Bitcoin network's mining rewards is programmed to be halved every 210,000 blocks mined, or approximately every four years (the "Halving"). The Halving reduces the issuance of new coins awarded to miners over time according to a pre-determined schedule. This reduction in the block subsidy spreads out the issuance of new units of bitcoin over a long period of time, resulting in an ever-smaller number of coins being mined. Bitcoin Halvings impact the amount of bitcoin we mine, which in turn may have a potential impact on our profitability, as Halvings transpire without any regard to ongoing demand. The latest Halving occurred on April 19, 2024, and the next Halving is expected to occur in 2028.

Power Supply and Pricing

Our operations are directly dependent on securing sufficient electrical power at competitive prices. Electricity is one of the most significant expenses incurred to run our bitcoin mining operations, and our profitability is subject to variations in the price of electricity, which is impacted by a variety of factors. We may experience loss of revenue in the event there are disruptions to our electricity supply, as such disruptions may impact our ability to operate our mining equipment.

Industry Trends

Bitcoin and other digital assets have been the focus of much regulatory attention, resulting in differing definitional outcomes without a single unifying statement. Changes to, and/or implementation of, laws and regulations (including regulatory scrutiny that increases our compliance burden) related to digital assets and digital asset mining may impact our revenue and profitability.

Technology

Developments and changes in technology impact the revenue generated by our bitcoin mining operations. Advances in bitcoin mining equipment may result in more efficient and effective mining equipment, which may affect our operating costs and revenue. The release of more efficient mining equipment can impact the price of bitcoin mining machines. Failure to leverage these developments in technology may place us at a disadvantage to our competitors and affect our results of operations.

Competition

The market for bitcoin mining has seen increasing numbers of new entrants, as well as existing entrants investing in new technology to remain competitive. The combination of these factors may result in a higher Bitcoin network

Management's Discussion and Analysis

For the three months ended March 31, 2025

(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

difficulty, which may render our operations less competitive and reduce the amount of revenue we generate from our bitcoin mining operations.

Summary of Bitcoin Mining Results and Operations

Digital Currency Holdings Summary

The digital currency balances and changes during the three months ended March 31, 2025 are as follows:

	BTC Units	Amount (\$)
Bitcoin balance as at December 31, 2023	0.86	47,429
Bitcoin acquired in business combination	44.40	4,029,042
Bitcoin earned	37.89	3,851,629
Bitcoin earned in profit-sharing arrangement	2.33	171,570
Bitcoin exchanged for cash and services	(37.38)	(3,611,462)
Realized gain on sale of bitcoin	<u>-</u>	250,549
Change in unrealized gain on revaluation of digital currencies	_	1,451,423
Unrealized translation adjustment	_	264,803
Bitcoin balance as at December 31, 2024	48.10	6,454,983
Bitcoin earned	19.43	2,605,689
Bitcoin paid in profit-sharing fee arrangement	(0.56)	(76,420)
Bitcoin exchanged for cash and services	(13.57)	(1,884,157)
Bitcoin exchanged for other digital currency	(0.27)	(35,844)
Bitcoin pledged as collateral	(50.55)	(5,998,827)
Realized gain on sale of bitcoin	<u>-</u>	156,297
Change in unrealized gain on revaluation of digital currencies	_	(908,544)
Unrealized translation adjustment	_	(16,103)
Bitcoin balance as at March 31, 2025	2.50	297,074

	Tether Units	Amount (\$)
Tether balance as at December 31, 2024	1,002.13	1,442
Tether received as payment in arrangements with customers	1,484,780.35	2,130,957
Tether exchanged for cash and services	(2,530,832.83)	(3,632,344)
Tether exchanged for other digital currency	24,975.02	35,844
Tether purchased with cash	20,369.80	29,235
Tether received from sale of discontinued operation	1,000,000.00	1,435,200
Realized gain on sale of tether	0.01	91
Change in unrealized gain on revaluation of digital currencies	_	2
Unrealized translation adjustment	_	(4)
Tether balance as at March 31, 2025	294.47	423

	USD Coin Units	Amount (\$)
USD Coin balance as at December 31, 2024	_	_
USD Coin purchased with cash	799,272.58	1,147,116
USD Coin exchanged for cash	(799,272.58)	(1,147,116)
Realized gain/(loss) on sale of USD Coin	_	_
Unrealized revaluation gain/(loss)	_	_
Unrealized translation adjustment	_	_
USD Coin balance as at March 31, 2025	_	_

	BTC Units	Amount (\$)
Restricted bitcoin balance as at December 31, 2024	_	_
Bitcoin pledged as collateral	50.55	5,998,827
Change in unrealized gain on revaluation of digital currencies	_	(15,924)
Unrealized translation adjustment	_	10,006
Restricted bitcoin balance as at March 31, 2025	50.55	5,992,909

Management's Discussion and Analysis

For the three months ended March 31, 2025

(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Hosting Operations Summary

The following table presents information about our hosting operations as at May 29, 2025, including details pertaining to our contracted power capacity and power and hosting rates:

Site Name	State	Total Power Capacity (MW)	Hosting Capacity (MW)	Proprietary Mining Capacity (MW)	Power Cost		Run-Rate Power Cos		Run-Rate Fixed Fower Cost Ra		Weighted Average Profit Share (%)
Tennessee	TN	10	3	7	\$	49.00	\$	70.30	_		
Kentucky 1	KY	10	10	_		49.00		49.00	50%		
Kentucky 2	KY	10	10	_		46.00		75.00	_		
North Dakota(3)	ND	60	60	_		_		_	_		
Total/Average		90	83	7	\$	48.00	\$	63.08	n/a		

⁽¹⁾ For Tennessee, Kentucky 1, and Kentucky 2, represents implied average power rates for 2024 under new demand-response program, excluding anomalous months caused by tenant transitions.

Mining Operations Summary

The following tables present information about our bitcoin mining operations as at May 29, 2025, including details pertaining to our various lease and hosting agreements, portfolio of mining machines, and expected profitability:

Site Name	State	Contract Type	Po	d Hosting/ wer Rate S\$/MWh)	Profit Share (%)	Number of Machines	Machine Model
Tennessee	TN	N/a (owned)	\$	49.00	_	2,086	S19J Pro
Tennessee	TN	N/a (owned)		49.00	_	200	S19 XP
Washington 1	WA	Lease		46.00	_	1,050	S19J Pro
Washington 2	WA	Lease		52.50	35%	1,028	S19J Pro
Total/Average			\$	49.22	8%	4,364	

	Ехре	cted Break-		E	cpected Cost	Hash			
	Even	Hash Price	Expected Monthly		Per Bitcoin	Rate	Power	Efficiency	
Site Name	(US\$	S/PH/s/d) ⁽¹⁾	Bitcoin (BTC)(1)(2)		(US\$) ⁽¹⁾⁽³⁾	(PH/s) ⁽⁴⁾	Draw (kW)	(J/TH)	Expiration Date
Tennessee	\$	35.00	3.2	\$	66,100	200	5,883	29.4	N/a (owned)
Tennessee		25.00	0.4		48,200	28	600	21.4	N/a (owned)
Washington 1		29.00	1.2		55,600	76	2,000	26.3	Q4 2025
Washington 2		35.00	1.4		81,300	85	2,400	28.1	Q2 2025
Total/Average	\$	33.00	6.2	\$	66,400	390	10,883	27.9	

Note: Includes only active bitcoin mining operations and does not account for machines in storage or which are not deployed. Metrics assume 100% up-time.

⁽²⁾ Represents contracted fixed hosting rates, excluding any temporary price adjustments provided to customers.

⁽³⁾ Through a wholly owned subsidiary, Cathedra holds a minority interest in a joint venture which owns the 60-MW hosting facility in North Dakota. On December 18, 2024, the shareholders of the JV entered into a binding agreement to sell 100% of the membership units to a third-party bitcoin miner for total cash consideration of approximately US\$21.0 million. The agreement was contingent upon the completion of several performance milestones which were recently achieved, and we expect the transaction to close in the coming weeks (subject to closing conditions and customary regulatory approvals). Average run-rate power cost shows cost of electricity only, excluding capacity lease.

⁽¹⁾ These items are non-IFRS measures or ratios and should not be considered a substitute or alternative for IFRS measures. See "Non-IFRS Measures and Ratios" section in this MD&A below.

⁽²⁾ Represents expected monthly gross bitcoin production assuming current bitcoin mining conditions, reflecting hash price of US\$55/PH/s/d and bitcoin price of US\$106,200.

⁽³⁾ Cost per bitcoin metric assumes network hash rate of 870 EH/s and transaction fees equal to 1.0% of the total block reward.

⁽⁴⁾ Expected gross hash rate produced by the Company's machines (excludes any revenue share component).

Management's Discussion and Analysis
For the three months ended March 31, 2025
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Results of Operations

The following table highlights our quarterly results for the eight most recently completed quarters:

	Three months ended								
	March 31, 2025	December 31, 2024	September 30, 2024	June 30, 2024					
	\$	\$	\$	<u> </u>					
Total revenue	6,503,290	5,722,540	5,857,825	5,696,309					
Net income / (loss)	(133,745)	1,681,909	(4,040,147)	1,146,369					
Comprehensive income / (loss)	(1,078,186)	1,889,978	(3,278,800)	1,258,862					
Basic earnings (loss) per share	(0.00)	0.00	(0.01)	0.00					
Diluted earnings (loss) per share	(0.00)	0.00	(0.01)	0.00					

	Three months ended								
	March 31, 2024	December 31, 2023	September 30, 2023	June 30, 2023					
	\$	\$	\$	\$					
Total revenue	5,866,179	5,548,664	4,875,102	2,535,974					
Net income	1,140,559	1,344,512	607,167	191,131					
Comprehensive income	1,266,070	1,382,067	618,114	87,402					
Basic earnings per share	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00					
Diluted earnings per share	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00					

Management's Discussion and Analysis

For the three months ended March 31, 2025

(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Comparative Results for the three months ended March 31, 2025, and 2024

The following table presents information about the results of our operations during the three months ended March 31, 2025, and 2024:

	March 31,	March 31,		
Three months ended	2025	2024	Variance \$	Variance %
Revenues	\$ 6,503,290	\$ 5,866,179	637,111	10.9%
Cost of revenues				
Operating costs	(4,310,679)	(4,255,316)	(55,363)	1.3%
Depreciation	(1,527,172)	(194,797)	(1,332,375)	684.0%
Gross profit	665,439	1,416,066		
Realized gain on sale of digital currencies	156,388	6,293	150,095	2,385.1%
Profit before operating expenses	821,827	1,422,359		
Operating Expenses				
Director fees	77,659	_	77,659	100.0%
Management and consulting fees	361,512	24,275	337,237	1,389.2%
Office and administration	529,943	46,121	483,822	1,049.0%
Professional fees	344,331	173,951	170,380	97.9%
Salaries and wages	89,152	_	89,152	100.0%
Share-based compensation	100,025	_	100,025	100.0%
Travel	8,977	_	8,977	100.0%
	\$ (1,511,599)	\$ (244,347)		
Operating profit (loss)	\$ (689,772)	\$ 1,178,012		
Other income (expenses)				
Foreign exchange loss	(94,517)	-	(94,517)	100.0%
Net finance costs	(297,332)	(35,631)	(261,701)	734.5%
Other income	7,048	-	7,048	100.0%
Revaluation loss on digital currencies	-	(194)	194	(100.0%)
Gain on debt settlement	693,411	-	693,411	100.0%
Unrealized loss on investment	(4,383)	-	(4,383)	100.0%
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income				
taxes	(385,545)	1,142,187		
Current income recovery (expense)	(38,621)	(15,706)	(22,915)	145.9%
Income (loss) from continuing operations	\$ (424,166)	\$ 1,126,481		
Income from discontinued operation	290,421	14,078	276,343	1,962.9%
Net income (loss)	\$ (133,745)	\$ 1,140,559		
Other comprehensive income (loss)				
Items that may be reclassified to income or loss				
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations	(18,100)	71,214	(89,314)	(125.4%)
Exchange differences on translation of discontinued operation	(1,875)	54,297	(56,172)	(103.5%)
Revaluation loss on digital currencies.	(924,466)	-	(924,466)	100.0%
Total comprehensive income (loss)	\$ (1,078,186)	\$ 1,266,070		

Bitcoin Production

Our mining operations earned 19.43 bitcoin during the three months ended March 31, 2025, compared to nil bitcoin during the three months ended March 31, 2024, an increase of 19.43 bitcoin. Kungsleden acquired Cathedra's bitcoin mining operations and bitcoin holdings of 44.40 bitcoin through the Kungsleden Merger, completed on July 23, 2024. Kungsleden earned no bitcoin through profit-sharing arrangement and did not have bitcoin mining operations.

Revenue

Mining Revenue

Digital currencies are recorded at their fair value on the date they are received as revenues and are revalued to their fair value at each reporting date. Fair value is determined by using the daily price of bitcoin from Coin Metrics.

For the three months ended March 31, 2024, the Company generated mining revenues of \$2,605,706 (2023 - \$nil).

Management's Discussion and Analysis
For the three months ended March 31, 2025
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Hosting Revenue

During the three months ended March 31, 2025, the Company generated hosting revenue of \$3,897,584 (2024 - \$5,866,179). Two customers accounted for approximately 92% (55% and 37%) of total hosting revenue during the three months ended March 31, 2025 (2024 – three customers exceeded 10% of total revenues of the Company with the following percentages representing their respective shares: 68%, 13% and 11%).

The Company receives monthly prepayments and short-term or long-term deposits from various customers according to the terms of hosting arrangements. The monthly prepayments are classified as contract liabilities, and deposits are classified as customer liabilities in the condensed consolidated interim statements of financial position.

Cost of Revenues

Operating costs (cost of revenues) for the three months ended March 31, 2025, were \$4.3 million, unchanged from the same period in 2024.

Depreciation expense (cost of revenues) for the three months ended March 31, 2025, was \$1.5 million compared to \$0.2 million during the three months ended March 31, 2024, an increase of \$1.3 million. The increase was largely due to the integration of Cathedra's operating costs from our bitcoin mining business following the completion of the Kungsleden Merger on July 23, 2024.

Operating Expenses

Our operating expense composition has changed considerably since the completion of the Kungsleden Merger on July 23, 2024. Consequently, comparing the current period with the prior year period is not meaningful. A notable item in the operating expenses is office and administration of \$0.5 million, which primarily relate to the assessed property taxes for data center assets.

Foreign Exchange Loss

We carry material intercompany balances denominated in the US dollars that are re-translated to a functional currency of Canadian subsidiaries at each reporting period end date. Foreign exchange loss during the three months ended March 31, 2025, was \$0.1 million compared to a foreign exchange loss of \$nil million during the three months ended March 31, 2024, an increase of \$0.1 million. The small change in foreign exchange loss was due primarily to the weaking of the US dollar against the Canadian dollar during the three months ended March 31, 2025.

Net Finance Costs

Interest expense during the three months ended March 31, 2025, was \$0.3 million compared to less than \$0.1 million during the three months ended March 31, 2024, an increase of more than \$0.2 million. The increase was primarily due to two new lease arrangements added as a result of the Kungsleden Merger.

Gain on Debt Settlement

On March 19, 2025, we restructured its outstanding debt whereby the convertible loan's principal amount was extinguished through repayment of the outstanding principal with \$4,586,982 plus accrued interest. In addition, the holder of the convertible loan agreed to surrender 10,897,000 share purchase warrants of the Company for cancellation. As a result of the extinguishment of convertible loan, we recognized a gain on debt settlement of \$0.7 million.

Income from Discontinued Operation

The loss from discontinued operation is attributable to T Tech's operations. As we made the decision to sell this subsidiary, the results of its operations are presented separately on the condensed consolidated interim statement of income or loss.

Management's Discussion and Analysis
For the three months ended March 31, 2025
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We used \$1.6 million of cash in our operating activities during the three months ended March 31, 2025. As at March 31, 2025, we had cash and cash equivalents of \$0.5 million, total digital currencies of \$6.3 million (53.0 bitcoin and 294.5 USDT), total shareholders' equity of \$27.0 million, and retained earnings of \$2.7 million.

During the three months ended March 31, 2025, we exchanged 13.57 bitcoin for cash and services valued at approximately \$1.9 million and placed 50.55 bitcoin to the escrow account as a collateral against the term loan received in March 2025. For the foreseeable future, we expect to liquidate bitcoin in sufficient quantities to at least cover our cash obligations. To the extent we generate cash profits, we may also choose to purchase bitcoin in the open market, with an eye toward growing our per-share bitcoin holdings over time.

Management expects to incur ongoing capital expenditures in the next 12 months related to the purchase of new bitcoin mining machines and the acquisition or development of its own data centers. Management expects these initiatives will require resources beyond the Company's existing financial resources as at the date hereof. Management believes that the Company's existing financial resources, combined with projected cash and bitcoin inflows from mining activities, will be sufficient to enable the Company to meet its operating and capital requirements for at least 12 months from the date hereof.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our sources and uses of cash during the three months ended March 31, 2025, and 2024:

	i nree mo	ntn	s enaea
Cash and cash equivalents provided by (used in):	March 31, 2025		March 31, 2024
Operating activities	\$ (1,606,839)	\$	1,500,176
Investing activities	3,244,796		-
Financing activities	(1,280,362)		(1,264,733)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents	\$ 357,595	\$	235,443

Operating Activities

Net cash used by operating activities during the three months ended March 31, 2025, was \$1.6 million compared to cash generated by operating activities of \$1.5 million during the three months ended March 31, 2024, a decrease of \$3.1 million. The decrease was the result of elimination of revenue earned by Kungsleden from hosting of Cathedra's mining equipment on consolidation of two legal entities subsequent to the merger completed in July 2024.

Investing Activities

We generated \$3.2 million of cash through our investing activities during the three months ended March 31, 2025, compared to \$nil million of cash generated in investing activities during the three months ended March 31, 2024, an increase of \$3.2 million. The increase is explained by proceeds from sale of bitcoin, net of fees, of \$1.8 million and \$1.4 million of cash received from partial sale of T Tech.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities was \$1.3 million during the three months ended March 31, 2025, compared to \$1.3 million of net cash generated by financing activities during the three months ended March 31, 2024. The increase is due largely to repayment of \$4.6 million to a convertible debenture holder, offset by the proceeds of \$3.6 million received from the new creditor pursuant to the terms of the term loan; increased lease payments from less than \$0.1 million during the three months ended March 31, 2024 to \$0.5 million during the three months ended March 31, 2025; and the material repayment made to the related parties during the three months ended March 31, 2024 compared to the advance of \$0.2 million received during the three months ended March 31, 2025.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

For the three months ended March 31, 2025

(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Outstanding Share Data

As at May 29, 2025, 6,253,429 multiple voting shares; 239,136,784 subordinate voting shares; 3,832,713 stock options; 6,784,620 restricted share units; and 26,042,882 subordinate voting share purchase warrants. There are voluntary and TSX-V-imposed resale restrictions on certain of these securities.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of March 31, 2025, and the date of this MD&A, we have no off-balance sheet arrangements.

Related Party Transactions and Balances

Key management personnel include those persons with authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company as a whole. The Company has determined that key management personnel consist of the Company's Chief Executive Officer ("CEO"), Chief Financial Officer ("CFO"), Chief Operating Officer and President ("COO"), Chief Fields Operation and Manufacturing Officer ("CMO"), Chief Technology Officer ("CTO"), and Directors of the Company. CMO departed the Company in January 2025 and CTO departed the Company in April 2025.

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel during the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 are as follows:

For the three months ended:	March 31, 2025	March 31, 2024
Director fees:	\$ 77,659	\$ _
Management, consulting and professional fees:		
CEO	73,256	-
COO	62,791	
CFO	70,330	_
Professional fees:		
Director	3,747	_
Share-based payments:		
CEO	20,727	_
C00	20,727	-
СТО	10,363	_
Directors	62,181	_
Wages and salaries:		
СМО	3,738	-
СТО	44,850	-
Total	\$ 450,369	\$ -

As of March 31, 2025, the Company has a total due to related parties balance of \$689,197 (December 31, 2024 - \$672,411) to directors and management of the Company. The balances are due on demand and bear no interest.

Non-IFRS Measures and Ratios

In addition to financial measures presented under IFRS, we consistently evaluate our use of and calculation of the non-IFRS financial measures, such as "Expected Break-Even Hash Price" and "Expected Cost Per Bitcoin."

Hash price is an expression of daily revenue per unit of bitcoin mining hash rate. Hash price is computed by dividing total bitcoin mining revenue per day (denominated in USD) by the total Bitcoin network hash rate (denominated in petahashes per second, or PH/s). Bitcoin mining data provider Hashrate Index offers historical and current views of hash price at the following website: https://data.hashrateindex.com/network-data/btc. Expected Break-Even Hash Price is an estimate of the level of daily revenue produced by one PH/s of hash rate at which our machines cease to produce gross profit. We compute Expected Break-Even Hash Price by dividing expected daily direct mining costs by expected net hash rate of our machines. Expected daily direct mining costs are based on expected power draw of the Company's machines and the contracted hosting/power rate for those machines (excluding non-cash costs such as depreciation). Expected net hash rate deducts any of our hash rate which is contracted to hosting partners as part of a revenue share agreement. The Expected Break-Even Hash Price can be compared against current spot hash price to determine the profitability of each of our sites based on current bitcoin mining conditions.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

For the three months ended March 31, 2025

(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Estimated Cost Per Bitcoin is an estimate of the go-forward direct cash cost that we will incur for each bitcoin we mine over a given period. We compute our cost per bitcoin by dividing expected direct mining costs by expected gross bitcoin production during a given period. Expected direct mining costs are based on the expected power draw of our machines and the contracted hosting/power rate for those machines (excluding non-cash costs such as depreciation). Expected gross bitcoin production is based on the expected gross hash rate of our machines, current network hash rate, and the current level of transaction fees.

We believe Expected Break-Even Hash Price and Expected Cost Per Bitcoin can be important financial measures because they allow management, investors, and our board of directors to evaluate and compare our operating results from period-to-period by making such adjustments.

Expected Break-Even Hash Price and Expected Cost Per Bitcoin are provided in addition to, and should not be considered to be a substitute for, or superior to, other measures of profitability, operating efficiency, or performance under IFRS. Expected Break-Even Hash Price and Expected Cost Per Bitcoin have limitations as analytical tools, and one should not consider such measures either in isolation or as substitutes for analyzing our results as reported under IFRS.

Business Risks and Uncertainties

Our business involves significant risks and uncertainties, some of which are described below. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with all of the other information in this MD&A and our Financial Statements. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risk and uncertainties that we are unaware of or that we deem immaterial may also become important factors that adversely affect our business. The realization of any of these risks and uncertainties could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial condition, results of operations, growth, and future prospects, as well as our ability to accomplish our strategic objectives. In that event, the market price of our common stock could decline and you could lose part or all of your investment.

Limited Operating History

We have a limited operating history upon which an evaluation of the Company and its prospects can be based. In particular, the Company has a limited history with its mining operations and remains in the early stage of development. The Company is subject to many risks common to venture enterprises, including undercapitalization, cash shortages, limitations with respect to personnel, financial and other resources and the lack of revenues. There is no assurance that the Company will be successful in achieving a return on shareholders' investment or meeting other metrics of success.

The Company is dependent on retained earnings for substantially all of its working capital needs, and there is no assurance that additional funding will be available to it for further development and growth. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain adequate financing in the future or that the terms of such financing will be favorable.

The Company incurs substantial expenses in the establishment and operating of its business. A significant portion of the Company's financial resources have been and will continue to be directed to the development of its business and related activities. The success of the Company will ultimately depend on its ability to generate cash from its business. There is no assurance that the required funds will be available for future expansion of the Company's business. If the Company does not have access to the required funds to continue the operation and development of its business and operational activities, and to the extent that it does not generate cash flow and income, the Company's long-term viability may be materially and adversely affected.

Business Risks and Uncertainties

There are a number of risk factors associated with Cathedra and its business. Shareholders should carefully consider each of the risks described below. Cathedra's success will depend on a number of things, including the expertise, ability, judgment, discretion, integrity and execution of its management. The risks and uncertainties below are not the only ones facing Cathedra. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to Cathedra or that it currently considers immaterial may also impair the Company's business operations and cause the value of the Company to decline. If any of the following risks actually occur, Cathedra's business may be harmed and its financial condition may suffer significantly.

Management's Discussion and Analysis
For the three months ended March 31, 2025
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Liquidity and Future Financing Risk

Cathedra may require additional financing in order to fund future operations and expansion plans. The Company's ability to secure any required financing to sustain operations and expansion plans will depend in part upon prevailing capital market conditions and business success. There can be no assurance that Cathedra will be successful in its efforts to secure any additional financing or additional financing on terms satisfactory to management. Moreover, future activities may require the Company to alter its capitalization significantly and, if additional financing is raised through issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, existing shareholders could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities issued could have rights, preferences, and privileges superior to those of current holders of the Common Shares. The inability of the Company to access sufficient capital for its operation could have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, from time to time, the Company may enter into transactions to acquire assets or the shares of other corporations. These transactions may be financed wholly or partially with debt, which may temporarily increase the Company's debt levels above industry standards. Any debt financing secured in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for the Company to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions.

Going Concern Risk

The Cathedra Financial Statements have been prepared using accounting principles applicable to a going concern which assumes an entity will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. Cathedra's future operations are dependent upon the identification and successful completion of equity or debt financing and the achievement of profitable operations. There can be no assurances that the Company will be successful in completing equity or debt financing or in achieving its growth plans. The Cathedra Financial Statements do not give effect to any adjustments relating to the carrying values and classification of assets and liabilities that would be necessary should it be unable to continue as a going concern.

Cash Flow Risk

The Company may sell its coins to pay for expenses incurred, irrespective of then-current coin prices. Consequently, Cathedra's coins may be sold at a time when the price is low, resulting in a negative effect on its profitability. The Company believes that the risk of this outcome is preferred over potentially greater risks of holding coin inventories and speculating in the price of coins.

Access to Power and Electricity Rate Risks

The Company's operations are dependent on its ability to maintain reliable and economical sources of power in order to run its cryptocurrency mining assets. While the Company believes its source of power is reliable and current regional infrastructure limits the likelihood of power interruptions, any suspension of its power supply could result in a material and adverse effect on the Company. The Company conducts cryptocurrency mining at its data center in Washington State. The Grant County Public Utility District ("GCPUD") is the electricity supplier to the Company's Washington State Operation. The cost of electricity offered by GCPUD is available online and is summarized in the GCPUD's rate schedules. The Company's current and future operations, anticipated growth, and sustainability of hydroelectricity at economic prices for the purposes of cryptocurrency mining in Washington poses certain risks. There is no assurance that a particular electricity rate structure will remain in effect and the Company's electricity supplier, GCPUD, is under no obligation to lock in rates for any period of time.

Any further increases to the Company's hosting or electricity rates at its data center operation may limit the profitability of its cryptocurrency mining operations and have a material and adverse effect on the Company's profitability. Any interruption of electrical supply would also have a material and adverse effect on the Company's business.

Regulatory Requirements

Governmental regulation may affect the Company's activities and the Company may be affected to varying degrees by government policies and regulations. Any changes in regulations or shifts in political conditions are

Management's Discussion and Analysis

For the three months ended March 31, 2025

(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

beyond the control of the Company and may adversely affect its business. Governments may take regulatory action that may increase the cost and/or subject cryptocurrency mining companies to additional regulation.

The operations of the Company may also require licenses and permits from various governmental authorities. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain all necessary licenses and permits that may be required.

The Company's operations will be subject to environmental regulations, which make operations expensive or prohibitive. The continued evolvement of environmental regulations may lead to the imposition of stricter standards, more diligent enforcement, and heavier fines and penalties for non-compliance. The cost of compliance with changes in governmental regulations has the potential to reduce the profitability of operations or cause delays in the development of mining projects.

Cryptocurrency Industry Risks

The further development and acceptance of the cryptocurrency industry is subject to a variety of factors that are difficult to evaluate. The slowing or stopping of the development or acceptance of cryptocurrency may adversely affect an investment in the Company. Cryptocurrency may be used, among other things, to buy and sell goods and services which is a new and rapidly evolving industry subject to a high degree of uncertainty. The factors that affect the further development of the cryptocurrency industry include: (i) continued worldwide growth in the adoption and use of cryptocurrency; (ii) government and quasi-government regulation of cryptocurrency and their use, or restrictions on or regulation of access to and operation of cryptocurrency systems; (iii) changes in customer demographics and public tastes and preferences; (iv) the availability and popularity of other forms or methods of buying and selling goods and services, including new means of using fiat currencies; (v) the wide-spread adoption of cryptocurrency to hedge against economic instability and inflation; and (vi) general economic conditions and the regulatory environment relating to cryptocurrency. A decline in the popularity or acceptance of cryptocurrency would harm the business and affairs of the Company.

Risk of Loss, Theft, or Restriction on Access

Although the Company stores its coins offline, there is a risk that some of the Company's coins could be lost or stolen. Any of these events may adversely affect the Company's operations and, consequently, the Company's profitability.

Cryptocurrencies are controllable only by the possessor of both the unique public and private keys relating to the local or online digital wallet in which they are held. The Company publishes the public key relating to its digital wallets when it verifies the receipt of cryptocurrency transfers and disseminates such information into the network but needs to safeguard the private keys relating to such digital wallets. To the extent such private keys are lost, destroyed or otherwise compromised, the Company will be unable to access its coins and such private keys cannot be restored. Any loss of private keys relating to the Company's digital wallets could adversely affect the Company's investments and profitability.

Bitcoin transactions are irrevocable and stolen or incorrectly transferred bitcoin may be irretrievable. Bitcoin transactions are not reversible without the consent and active participation of the recipient of the transaction. Once a transaction has been verified and recorded in a block that is added to the blockchain, an incorrect transfer of bitcoin or a theft of bitcoin generally will not be reversible, and the Company may not be capable of seeking compensation for any such transfer or theft. To the extent that the Company is unable to seek a corrective transaction with the third party or is incapable of identifying the third party that has received the Company's bitcoin through error or theft, the Company will be unable to revert or otherwise recover incorrectly transferred bitcoin. The Company will also be unable to convert or recover bitcoin transferred to uncontrolled accounts.

Risk of Malicious Actors

If a malicious actor or botnet (a volunteer or hacked collection of computers controlled by networked software coordinating the actions of the computers) obtains a majority of the processing power dedicated to "mining", it may be able to alter the blockchain on which cryptocurrency transactions rely. In such circumstances, the malicious actor or botnet could control, exclude or modify the ordering of transactions, though it could not generate new cryptocurrency or transactions using such control. The malicious actor or botnet could double

Management's Discussion and Analysis
For the three months ended March 31, 2025
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

spend its own cryptocurrency and prevent the confirmation of other users' transactions for so long as it maintains control. Such changes could have a material and adverse effect on the Company's operations.

Risk of Reduced Incentives

As the number of bitcoin awarded for solving a block in the blockchain decreases, the incentive for miners to contribute processing power to the Bitcoin network (the "Network") will transition from a set reward to transaction fees. In order to incentivize miners to continue to contribute processing power to the Network, the Network may either formally or informally transition from a set reward to transaction fees earned upon solving for a block. If miners demand higher transaction fees to record transactions in the blockchain or a software upgrade automatically charges fees for all transactions, the cost of using bitcoin may increase and the marketplace may be reluctant to accept bitcoin as a means of payment. Existing users may be motivated to switch from bitcoin to another digital currency or back to fiat currency. Decreased use and demand for cryptocurrencies may adversely affect their value and result in a reduction in cryptocurrencies index price and, consequently, the price of the Company's common shares.

Facility Development Risk

The continued development of existing and planned facilities is subject to various factors and may be delayed or adversely affected by such factors beyond the Company's control, including delays in the delivery or installation of equipment by suppliers, difficulties in integrating new equipment into existing infrastructure, shortages in materials or labour, defects in design or construction, diversion of management resources, insufficient funding, or other resource constraints. Actual costs for development may exceed the Company's planned budget. Delays, cost overruns, changes in market circumstances and other factors may result in different outcomes than those intended.

Risk of Non-Availability of Insurance

When considered practical to do so, the Company will maintain insurance against risks in the operation of its business and in amounts that it believes to be reasonable. Such insurance, however, will contain exclusions and limitations on coverage. There can be no assurance that such insurance will continue to be available, will be available at economically acceptable premiums or will be adequate to cover any resulting liability. The novelty of the industry may impair the ability of the Company to acquire adequate insurance coverage for risks associated with its operations. The occurrence of an event that is not covered, in full or in part, by insurance may cause substantial economic damage to the Company. In some cases, such as with respect to environmental risks, coverage is not available or considered too expensive relative to the perceived risk.

Bitcoin Network Risks

The open-source structure of the Network protocol means that the core developers of the Network and other contributors are generally not directly compensated for their contributions in maintaining and developing the Network protocol. A failure to properly monitor and upgrade the Network protocol could damage the Network.

The core developers of the Network can propose amendments to the Network's source code through software upgrades that alter the protocols and software of the Network and the properties of Bitcoin, including the irreversibility of transactions and limitations on the mining of new bitcoin. Proposals for upgrades and related discussions take place on online forums, including www.github.com and www.bitcointalk.org. To the extent that a significant majority of the users on the Network install such software upgrade(s), the Network would be subject to new protocols and software.

The acceptance of the Network software patches or upgrades by a significant, but not overwhelming, percentage of the users and miners in the Network could result in a "fork" in the blockchain underlying the Network, result in the operation of two separate networks. Without an official developer or group of developers that formally control the Network, any individual can download the Network software and make desired modifications, which are proposed to users and miners on the Network through software downloads and upgrades, typically posted to Bitcoin development forums. A substantial majority of miners and Bitcoin users must consent to such software modifications by downloading the altered software of upgrade; otherwise, the modifications do not become a part of the Network. Since the Network's inception, modifications to the Network have been accepted by the vast majority of users and miners, ensuring that the Bitcoin network remains a coherent economic system.

Management's Discussion and Analysis
For the three months ended March 31, 2025

(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

If, however, a proposed modification is not accepted by a vast majority of miners and users but is nonetheless accepted by a substantial population of participations in the Network, a "fork" in the blockchain underlying the Network could develop, resulting in two separate Bitcoin networks. Such a fork in the blockchain typically would be addressed by community-led efforts to merge the forked blockchain, and several prior forks have been so merged. However, in some cases, there may be a permanent "hard fork" in the blockchain, and a new cryptocurrency may be formed as a result of that "hard fork". For example, Bitcoin Cash™ was created through a fork in the blockchain. Where such forks occur on the blockchain, the Company will follow the chain with the greatest proof of work in the fork.

Momentum Pricing Risk

Momentum pricing typically is associated with growth stocks and other assets whose valuation, as determined by the investing public, accounts for anticipated future appreciation in value. Cryptocurrency market prices are determined primarily using data from various exchanges, over-the-counter markets, and derivative platforms. Momentum pricing may have resulted, and may continue to result, in speculation regarding future appreciation in the value of cryptocurrencies, inflating and making their market prices more volatile. As a result, cryptocurrency prices may be more likely to fluctuate in value due to changing investor confidence in the future appreciation (or depreciation) in their market prices, which could adversely affect the value of the Company's inventory and/or revenues, thereby having a material and adverse effect on the Company's business.

Cryptocurrency Exchange Risk

To the extent that cryptocurrency exchanges or other trading venues are involved in fraud or experience security failures or other operational issues, this could result in a reduction in cryptocurrency prices.

Cryptocurrency market prices depend, directly or indirectly, on the prices set on exchanges and other trading venues, which are new and, in most cases, largely unregulated as compared to established, regulated exchanges for securities, derivatives and other commodities. For example, during the past three years, a number of bitcoin exchanges have been closed due to fraud, business failure or security breaches. In many of these instances, the customers of the closed cryptocurrency exchanges were not compensated or made whole for the partial or complete loss of their account balances in such exchanges. While smaller exchanges are less likely to have the infrastructure and capitalization that provide the larger exchanges with additional stability, larger exchanges may be more likely to be appealing targets for hackers and "malware" (i.e., software used or programmed by attackers to disrupt computer operation, gather sensitive information or gain access to private computer systems) and may be more likely to be targets of regulatory enforcement action. Such attacks to cryptocurrency exchanges may have a material and adverse effect on the price of cryptocurrencies, and accordingly, the Company's operations.

Banking Risk

A number of companies that provide Bitcoin- and/or other cryptocurrency-related services have been unable to find banks that are willing to provide them with bank accounts and banking services. Similarly, a number of such companies have had their existing bank accounts closed by their banks. Banks may refuse to provide bank accounts and other banking services to Bitcoin- and/or other cryptocurrency-related companies or companies that accept cryptocurrencies for a number of reasons, such as perceived compliance risks or costs. Many businesses that provide Bitcoin- and/or other cryptocurrency-related services may continue to have difficulty in finding banks willing to provide them with bank accounts and other banking services which may be decrease the usefulness of cryptocurrencies as a payment system. The inability to secure banking services may also harm public perception of cryptocurrencies or could decrease its usefulness and harm its public perception in the future. Similarly, the usefulness of cryptocurrencies as a payment system and the public perception of cryptocurrencies could be damaged if banks were to close the accounts of many or of a few key businesses providing Bitcoin- and/or other cryptocurrency-related services. This could decrease the market prices of cryptocurrencies and have a material and adverse effect on the Company's business.

Risk of System Failure

The Company's operations will be dependent on its own and third-party operators' ability to maintain its equipment in effective working order and to protect its systems against cyber security breaches, damage from fire, natural disaster, power loss, telecommunications failure or similar events. Security procedures implemented by the Company are technical and complex, and the Company depends on the security procedures to protect the

Management's Discussion and Analysis

For the three months ended March 31, 2025

(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

storage, acceptance and distribution of data relating to its inventory or cryptocurrencies. The Company's third-party operators' security procedures may not protect against all errors, software flaws (i.e., bugs) or vulnerabilities. Defects in the security procedures may only be discovered after a failure in the Company's mining operations or safekeeping and storage of its inventory of cryptocurrencies. While the Company will continually review and seek to upgrade its technical infrastructure and provide for certain system redundancies and backup power to limit the likelihood of systems overload or failure, any damage, failure or delay that causes interruptions in the Company's operations could have a material and adverse effect on the Company's business.

Technological System Risk

The success of the Company is dependent on the accuracy, proper use and continuing development of its technological systems, including its business systems and operational platforms. The Company's ability to effectively use the information generated by its information technology systems, as well as its success in implementing new systems and upgrades, may affect its ability to maximize the efficiency of its miners.

As technological change occurs, the security threats to the Company's bitcoin and mining systems will likely adapt and previously unknown threats may emerge. The Company's third-party operators' ability to adopt technology in response to changing security needs or trends may pose a challenge to the Company's business. To the extent that the Company's third-party operators are unable to identify and mitigate or stop new security threats, the Company's cryptocurrencies may be subject to theft, loss destruction or other attack, which would have a material and adverse effect on the Company' business.

Competitive Risk

The Company will compete with other users and/or companies that are mining cryptocurrencies and other financial vehicles, possibly including securities backed by or linked to cryptocurrencies through entities similar to the Company, or exchange-traded funds (ETFs). Market and financial conditions, and other conditions beyond the Company's control, may make it more attractive to invest in other financial vehicles, or to invest in cryptocurrencies directly, which could limit the market for the Company's Shares and reduce their liquidity.

Technological Obsolescence Risk

To remain competitive, the Company will continue to invest in hardware and equipment required for maintaining the Company's activities. Should competitors introduce new services/software embodying new technologies, the Company recognizes its hardware and equipment and its underlying technology may become obsolete and require substantial capital to replace such equipment.

Hardware Supply Risk

The increase in interest and demand for cryptocurrencies may lead to a shortage of capable hardware as individuals and businesses purchase equipment for mining and other cryptocurrency-related uses. Equipment will also require replacement from time to time and any shortages of bitcoin mining machines or graphics processing units may lead to unnecessary downtime as the Company searches for replacement equipment.

Risk of Equipment Breakdown

The Company purchased cryptocurrency mining machines in connection to the acquisition of its data center operation in Washington State and the Kentucky and Tennessee Mines. It is possible that serious defects or deficiencies could arise in these machines, which would make it difficult or impossible for the Company to meet its expected operational levels and could result in a material and adverse effect on the Company's business.

Profit Risk

Further development and acquisitions of server farms and the ongoing operation of the Company's existing data centers will require additional capital and monthly expenses. The Company's operating expenses and capital expenditures may increase in subsequent years as necessary consultants, personnel and equipment associated with the maintenance of the data center in Washington State and any other mining facility the Company may acquire are added. There is no assurance that the Company will be successful in obtaining the required financing for these or other purposes, including for general working capital.

Management's Discussion and Analysis
For the three months ended March 31, 2025
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

There can be no assurance that the Company will generate net profits in future periods. Further, there can be no assurance that the Company will be cash flow positive in future periods. In the event that the Company fails to achieve profitability in future periods, the value of the Company's Common Shares may decline. In addition, if the Company is unable to achieve or maintain positive cash flows, the Company would be required to seek additional financing, which may not be available on favorable terms, if at all.

Third-Party Risk

The Company relies on services and software developed and maintained by third-party vendors. The Company also expects that it may incorporate in the future software from third-party vendors and open-source software. The Company's business may be disrupted if this software, or functional equivalents of this software, were either no longer available to the Company or no longer offered to it on commercially reasonable terms. In either instance, the Company would be required to redesign services to function with alternate third-party software or open-source software.

Intellectual Property Risk

The Company cannot assure its shareholders that its activities will not infringe on patents, trademarks or other intellectual property rights owned by others. If the Company is required to defend itself against intellectual property rights claims, it may spend significant time and effort and incur significant litigation costs, regardless of whether such claims have merit. If the Company is found to have infringed on the patents, trademarks or other intellectual property rights of others, the Company may also be subject to substantial claims for damages or a requirement to cease the use of such disputed intellectual property, which could have an adverse effect on its operations. Such litigation or claims and the consequences that could follow could distract management of the Company from the ordinary operation of its business and could increase costs of doing business, resulting in a material adverse impact on the business, financial condition or results of operations of the Company.

Contractual Risk

The Company is a party to various contracts and it is always possible that the other contracting parties may not fully perform their obligations.

Unforeseen Expenses

While the Company is not aware of any expenses that may need to be incurred that have not been taken into account, if such expenses were subsequently incurred, the Company's forecasted uses of funds and other budgets may be adversely affected.

Geopolitical Risk

Crises may motivate large-scale purchases of cryptocurrencies which could increase the price of cryptocurrencies rapidly. This may increase the likelihood of a subsequent price decrease as crisis-driven purchasing behavior wanes, adversely affecting the value of the Company's digital currency inventory.

The possibility of large-scale purchases of cryptocurrencies in times of crisis may have a short-term positive impact on the price of bitcoin. For example, in March 2013, a report of uncertainty in the economy of the Republic of Cyprus and the imposition of capital controls by Cypriote banks motivated individuals in Cyprus and other countries with similar economic situations to purchase bitcoin. This resulted in a significant short-term positive impact on the price of cryptocurrencies. However, as the purchasing activity of individuals in this situation waned, speculative investors engaged in significant sales of cryptocurrencies, which significantly decreased the price of cryptocurrencies. Crises of this nature in the future may erode investors' confidence in the stability of cryptocurrencies and may impair their price performance which would, in turn, adversely affect the Company.

As an alternative to fiat currencies that are backed by central governments, cryptocurrencies, which are relatively new, are subject to supply and demand forces based upon the desirability of an alternative, decentralized means of buying and selling goods and services, and it is unclear how such supply and demand will be impacted by geopolitical events. Nevertheless, political or economic crises may motivate large-scale acquisitions or sales of cryptocurrencies either globally or locally. Large-scale sales of cryptocurrencies would result in a reduction in their market prices and adversely affect the Company's operations and profitability.

Management's Discussion and Analysis
For the three months ended March 31, 2025
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Litigation Risk

The Company may from time to time be involved in various claims, legal proceedings and disputes arising in the ordinary course of business. If the Company is unable to resolve these disputes favorably, it may have a material and adverse effect on the Company. Even if the Company is involved in litigation and wins, litigation can redirect significant Company resources. Litigation may also create a negative perception of the Company's brand. Securities litigation as well as potential future proceedings could result in substantial costs and damages and divert the Company's management's attention and resources. Any decision resulting from any such litigation that is adverse to the Company could have a negative impact on the Company's financial position and business more generally.

Key Personnel Risk

Our success is largely dependent on the performance of our proposed directors and officers. Certain members of our management team have experience in the cryptocurrency industry, while others have experience in other areas including financial management, corporate finance and sales and marketing. The experience of these individuals is expected to contribute to our continued success and growth. Cathedra will be relying on its directors and officers, as well as independent consultants and advisory board, for various aspects of our business. The amount of time and expertise expended on our affairs by our management team, consultants, advisory board members and directors will vary according to Cathedra's needs. The Company does not intend to acquire any key man insurance policies and there is, therefore, a risk that the death or departure of any director and officer, key employee or consultant, could have a material adverse effect on its operations.

Failure of the Company's Physical Infrastructure

The Company's business depends on providing customers with highly reliable solutions. The Company must safeguard its customers' infrastructure and equipment located at the Company's facilities and ensure business operations remain operational at all times. If the Company does not maintain its facilities, it may be unable to continue providing the service to its customers.

Furthermore, the Company has service level commitment obligations to certain customers. As a result, service interruptions or significant equipment damage at any Company facility could result in difficulty maintaining service level commitments to these customers and potential claims related to such failures. Because the Company's facilities are critical to many of its customers' businesses, service interruptions or significant equipment damage in the Company's facilities could also result in lost profits or other indirect or consequential damages to its customers. The Company cannot guarantee that a court would enforce any contractual limitations on our liability in the event that one of the Company's customers brings a lawsuit against it as a result of a problem at one of the Company's facilities and the Company may decide to reach settlements with affected customers irrespective of any such contractual limitations. Any such settlement may result in a reduction of revenue. In addition, any loss of service, equipment damage or inability to meet the Company's service level commitment obligations could reduce the confidence of its customers and could consequently impair its ability to obtain and retain customers, which would adversely affect both its ability to generate revenues and its results of operations.

Risks of Expansion Efforts

The Company is considering the acquisition or lease of additional properties and the construction of new facilities beyond those projects already announced. The Company will be required to commit substantial operational and financial resources to these new facilities in advance of securing customer contracts, and the Company may not have sufficient customer demand in those markets to support these facilities once they are built. In addition, unanticipated technological changes could affect customer requirements for the Company's facilities, and the Company may not have built such requirements into its facilities. Either of these contingencies, if they were to occur, could make it difficult for the Company to realize expected or reasonable returns on these investments.

Terrorist Activity or Other Acts of Violence

The continued threat of terrorist activity and other acts of war or hostility both domestically and abroad by terrorist organizations, organized crime organizations, or other criminals along with violence stemming from political unrest, contribute to a climate of political and economic uncertainty. Due to existing or developing

Management's Discussion and Analysis

For the three months ended March 31, 2025

(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

circumstances, the Company may need to incur additional costs in the future to provide enhanced security, including cybersecurity and physical security, which could have a material adverse effect on its business and results of operations. These circumstances may also adversely affect the Company's ability to attract and retain customers and employees, its ability to raise capital and the operation and maintenance of its facilities.

Need for Significant Electrical Power

The Company's operations require significant amounts of electrical power, and, as the Company continues to expand its operations, it anticipates its demand for electrical power will continue to grow. The fluctuating price of electricity and the availability of low-cost electricity to power the Company's expansion, may inhibit the Company's profitability. If the Company is unable to obtain sufficient electrical power on a cost-effective basis, it may not realize the anticipated benefits of its significant capital investments and it may not be able to successfully implement its strategic growth plans.

Additionally, the Company's operations could be materially adversely affected by prolonged power outages. The Company may have to reduce or cease operations in the event of an extended power outage, or as a result of unavailability or increased cost of electrical power. If this were to occur, the business and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Accounting Policies, Critical Accounting Estimates, and Internal Controls

The preparation of the Company's consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, estimates, and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised, if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods, if the revision affects both current and future periods. Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements are described below.

Significant Judgments

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the provision of transaction verification services within digital currency networks, commonly termed "cryptocurrency mining". As consideration for these services, the Company receives digital currency from each specific network in which it participates ("coins"). Revenue is measured based on the fair value of the coins received. The fair value is determined using the spot price of the coin on the date of receipt, based on the daily average from https://coinmetrics.io/ ("Coin Metrics").

There is currently no specific definitive guidance in IFRS or alternative accounting frameworks for the accounting for the production and mining of digital currencies, and management has exercised significant judgement in determining appropriate accounting treatment for the recognition of revenue for mining of digital currencies. Management has examined various factors surrounding the substance of the Company's operations and the guidance in IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, including the stage of completion being the completion and addition of block to a blockchain and the reliability of the measurement of the digital currency received. In the event authoritative guidance is enacted by the IASB or IFRIC, the Company may be required to change its policies which could result in a change in the Company's financial position and earnings.

Significant Estimates

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The individual fair value attributed to the different components of a financing transaction is determined using valuation techniques. The Company uses judgment to select the methods used to make certain assumptions and in performing the fair value calculations in order to determine (a) the values attributed to each component of a transaction at the time of the issuance; (b) the fair value measurements for certain instruments that require

Management's Discussion and Analysis

For the three months ended March 31, 2025

(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

subsequent measurement at fair value on a recurring basis; and (c) for disclosing the fair value of financial instruments subsequently carried at amortized cost. The valuation estimates could be significantly different because of the use of judgment and the inherent uncertainty in estimating the fair value of the instrument that are not quoted in active market.

Useful Life and Residual Value

Depreciation of the assets in the cryptocurrency data center is based on an estimate of the assets' expected life. In order to determine the useful life of the assets in the cryptocurrency mining center, assumptions are required about a range of computing industry market and economic factors, including global hash rates dedicated to proof of work mining, network difficulty, technological changes, release and availability of newer and more efficient hardware and other inputs, and production costs. Based on the data that management has reviewed, management has determined to use the straight-line method of amortization over three years, to best reflect the current expected useful life of mining equipment. Management will review its estimates and assumptions at each reporting date and will revise its assumptions if new information supports the change.

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. These calculations are based on available data, other observable inputs and projections of cash flows, all of which are subject to estimates and assumptions. Recoverable amounts are also sensitive to assumptions about the future usefulness of in-process development and the related marketing rights.

Taxes

The determination of the Company's tax expense for the period and deferred tax assets and liabilities involves significant estimation and judgement by management. In determining these amounts, management interprets tax legislation in a variety of jurisdictions and makes estimates of the expected timing of the reversal of deferred tax assets and liabilities, the deferral and deductibility of certain items and interpretation of the treatment for tax purposes of digital currencies by taxation authorities. Management also makes estimates of future earnings, which affect the extent to which potential future tax benefits may be used. The Company is subject to assessments by various taxation authorities, which may interpret legislation differently. These differences may affect the final amount or the timing of the payments of taxes. The Company provides for such differences where known based on management's best estimate of the probable outcome of these matters.

Digital Currency Valuation

Digital currency denominated assets are included in current assets. Digital currencies are carried at their fair value determined by the spot rate based on the daily average from Coin Metrics. The digital currency market is still a new market and is highly volatile; historical prices are not necessarily indicative of future value; a significant change in the market prices for digital currencies would have a significant impact on the Company's earnings and financial position.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model ("Black-Scholes") to estimate the fair value of stock options granted to directors, officers, employees and consultants. The use of Black-Scholes requires management to make various estimates and assumptions that impact the value assigned to the stock options including the forecast future volatility of the stock price, the risk-free interest rate, dividend yield and the expected life of the stock options. Any changes in these assumptions could have a material impact on the calculation of the share-based compensation; however, the most significant estimate is volatility. Expected future volatility can be difficult to estimate as the Company has had limited history, is in a unique industry, and historical volatility is not necessarily indicative of future volatility.

Business Combination – Purchase Price Allocation

The consideration transferred (or deemed consideration) and acquired assets and assumed liabilities are recognized at fair value on the date of the Company effectively obtains control. The measurement of each business combination is based on the information available on the acquisition date. The estimate of fair value of

Management's Discussion and Analysis

For the three months ended March 31, 2025

(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

the consideration transferred (or deemed consideration) and acquired intangible assets (including goodwill), property and equipment, other assets and the liabilities assumed are based on estimates and assumptions. The measurement is largely based on the projected cash flows, discount rates and market conditions at the date of acquisition.

Areas of significant estimates and judgments also include:

- Collectability of trade and other receivables
- Completeness of trade payables and accrued liabilities
- Valuation of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
- Valuation of convertible loans

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management

The Company's financial instruments are exposed to certain financial risks, including currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and commodity price risk.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty's inability to fulfill its payment obligations. The financial instruments that represent a potential concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, digital currencies, restricted digital currencies, deposits, and trade receivables. Under certain of our hosting agreements, we are obligated to pay security deposits to the hosting provider at the beginning of the term. If one or more of our hosting providers suffers an adverse credit event, we may be unable to recover part or all of the outstanding deposits. We limit our exposure to credit loss by holding our cash with reputable, well-capitalized financial institutions and performing careful due diligence on potential hosting partners prior to entering into a binding agreement which would require us to pay a security deposit. The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure for each.

The carrying amount of financial and digital assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

	March 31, 2025	December 31, 2024
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 459,058 \$	101,367
Digital currencies	297,497	6,456,425
Restricted digital currencies	5,992,909	-
Trade receivables	1,288,371	1,448,900
Deposits	2,619,347	2,621,716
	\$ 10,657,182 \$	10,628,408

We believe the Company has no significant credit risk other than what is disclosed herein.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that we will not be able to meet our financial obligations. We manage our liquidity risk by ensuring that we have enough cash to meet our near-term financial liabilities at all times. As at March 31, 2025, we had a working capital deficit of \$415,155 (2024 – working capital of \$14,997,845).

Cash flows related to trade payables and accrued liabilities, customer liabilities and convertible loan included below may occur at different times or amounts. A maturity analysis of our outstanding obligations relating to continuing operations of March 31, 2025 is as follows:

For the three months ended March 31, 2025

(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

	Undiscounted Contractual Cash Flows					
As at March 31, 2025	Total carrying amount \$	Contractual cash flows \$	Less than 1 year \$	1 – 5 years \$	More than 5 years \$	
Trade payables and accrued liabilities	2,515,757	2,515,757	2,515,757	-	-	
Due to related parties	689,197	689,197	689,197	_	-	
Income tax payable	521,827	521,827	521,827	_	-	
Contract liabilities	149,317	149,317	149,317	_	-	
Customer liabilities	2,001,018	2,001,018	1,430,076	570,942	_	
Lease liabilities	1,457,111	2,523,383	1,273,376	710,047	539,960	
Loans and borrowings	3,608,001	3,608,001	3,608,001	_	_	
Total	10,942,228	12,008,500	10,187,551	1,280,989	539,960	

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as Bitcoin prices, interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices.

Bitcoin Price Volatility

As of March 31, 2025, we held a digital currency balance in bitcoin and Tether ("USDT") that is subject to market pricing and price volatility. Bitcoin prices are affected by various forces including global supply and demand, interest rates, exchanges rates, inflation or deflation and the political and economic conditions. Further, bitcoin has no underlying backing or contracts to enforce recovery of invested amounts. Our profitability is related to the current and future market price of bitcoin; in addition, we may not be able to liquidate our holdings of bitcoin at our desired price if necessary. Investing in bitcoin is speculative, prices are volatile, and market movements are difficult to predict. Supply and demand for such currencies change rapidly and are affected by a variety of factors, including regulation and general economic trends. Bitcoin has a limited history, its fair values have historically been volatile, and the value of our bitcoin holdings could decline rapidly. A decline in the market price of bitcoin could negatively impact our future operations. Historical performance of bitcoin is not indicative of its future performance. We recorded a loss on revaluation of digital currencies in the amount of \$nil during the three months ended March 31, 2025 (2024 - \$194) in the statement of profit or loss and loss from a loss from revaluation of digital currencies of \$924,466 (2024 - \$nil) in the statement of other comprehensive income or loss.

We do not hedge our bitcoin holdings, but we actively monitor bitcoin pricing, market volatility and our own liquidity needs to determine an appropriate risk mitigation strategy on a continuous basis.

Interest Rate Risk

The interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. We are exposed to interest rate risk on the variable rate of interest we earn on bank deposits. The interest rate risk on bank deposits is insignificant, as our deposits are all short-term. The coupon on our outstanding convertible debenture is fixed and therefore has limited exposure to changes in interest rates.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because they are denominated in currencies that differ from the respective functional currency. We are exposed to currency risk as we have legal entities domiciled in the United States which hold financial assets in US dollars and bitcoin while our functional currency is the Canadian dollar. We do not hedge our exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates.

If the US dollar had changed against the Canadian dollar by 10% at period end, the Company's net income and comprehensive income would change by approximately \$146,000, resulting from the translation of the US dollar denominated financial instruments.

Management's Discussion and Analysis
For the three months ended March 31, 2025
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Custody Risk

We hold our digital currencies with a third-party custodian. Our custody strategy is designed to balance security and availability of our bitcoin. We continuously monitor our cash and bitcoin holdings with our third-party custodian.

Our current service provider for digital currency custody is an institutional counterparty that is licensed, regulated, and insured. At any time, in excess of 98% of our digital currency holdings (excluding any digital currency that is being traded at that time) is held in a cold-storage, multi-signature, segregated trust account that is titled in the name of one of our US subsidiaries. Prior to onboarding with our current custodian, we performed extensive due diligence, examining the new custodian's internal control procedures to ensure security, availability, integrity, and confidentiality of the custodian's information and systems. Our current custodian maintains SOC 1 Type II and SOC 2 Type II compliance, which we review periodically to ensure the custodian maintains a secure technology infrastructure and that its systems are designed and operating effectively.

Loss of Access Risk

The loss of access to the private keys associated with our digital currency holdings may be irreversible and could adversely affect an investment. An amount of digital currency is spendable only by whoever possesses the private key associated with the address on which the digital currency is held. To the extent a private key is lost, destroyed, or otherwise compromised, and no backup is accessible, we may be unable to access the associated digital currency. As of March 31, 2025, 2.50 bitcoin equivalent to \$297,074 is held with our third-party custodian in our name (December 31, 2024 - 48.10 bitcoin equivalent to \$6,454,983).

Fair Value Hierarchy

We apply the following fair value hierarchy for financial instruments that are carried at fair value. The hierarchy prioritizes the inputs used in the valuation methodologies in measuring fair value into three levels.

The three levels are defined as follows:

- Level 1 inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.
- Level 2 inputs to valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, and inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument.
- Level 3 inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement.

We hold investments in private companies that are classified as FVTPL and is recorded at fair value using unobservable inputs; it is therefore classified as level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. The net asset value of the private company is used to adjust the investment to fair value.

The carrying value of our trade receivables, due to and from related parties, trade payables and accrued liabilities, deposits, and convertible loan approximates fair value because of the relatively short periods to maturity of these instruments and the low credit risk.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The information provided in the condensed consolidated interim financial statements and the accompanying MD&A is the responsibility of management. Management is required to make a number of judgments, assumptions and estimates when preparing these financial statements and MD&A, including estimates to make a determination of future values for certain assets or liabilities. Management believes such estimates have been based on prudent judgments and have been properly reflected in the accompanying financial statements, but actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised, if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods, if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Management's Discussion and Analysis
For the three months ended March 31, 2025
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Management is responsible for the internal controls over the operations and financial reporting, including internal controls related to maintaining records that reflect the transactions, acquisitions, and dispositions of the assets of the Company. As all controls and processes are subject to certain limitations, management acknowledges that the internal controls may not prevent or detect all misstatements due to error or fraud.